
 
CITY OF STATESBORO, GEORGIA                           CITY COUNCIL MEETING & 
 CITY HALL COUNCIL CHAMBERS                            PUBLIC HEARING AGENDA 

 

  

September 4th, 2013 9:00 am 
 

1. Call to Order by Mayor Joe Brannen 
 

2. Invocation and Pledge of Allegiance by Councilman John Riggs 
 

3. Recognitions/Public Presentations 
A)  Completion of The University of Georgia Carl Vinson Institute Certified Human 

Resource Manager Program. Flavia Starling, Human Resources Coordinator, HR 
Department   

B) Employee of the Month: John Zinskie, Scale Operator, Public Works, Solid Waste 
Disposal Division (Landfill) 
 

4. Public Comments (Agenda Item): 
 

5. Consideration of a Motion to approve the Consent Agenda 
A) Approval of Minutes 

a) 08-20-2013 Council Minutes 
b) 08-20-2013 Executive Session Minutes 

B)  Notification of alcohol license application: 
a) Licensee:  Tiffany Lynn Hine (changing managers) 

DBA:  Applebee’s Neighborhood Grill & Bar 
Location:  24087 Highway 80 East 
Type of Alcohol License:  Pouring – Beer, Wine & Liquor 
Type of Business:  Restaurant 

C) Notification of alcohol license application: 
a) Licensee:  Britt Hendrix (Changing Owners) 

DBA: Your Pie 
Location:  701 Piedmont Loop Suite 200 
Type of Alcohol License:  Pouring – Beer & Wine 
Type of Business – Restaurant 

D) Consideration of a Motion to approve “Vehicle for Hire” 
a) J. E. T. Services – Bruce Taylor (Owner) 

E) Consideration of a Motion to approve Special Event Permits 
a) Averitt Center for the Arts – Legend in the Arts 
b) Averitt Center for the Arts – Lamar Dodd:  Timeless Gallery Opening 
c) Averitt Center for the Arts – Transit Authority – Chicago Tribute Band 
d) Averitt Center for the Arts - Fundraiser 

F) Consideration of a Motion to approve Special Events Permit 
a) GSU Botanical Garden – Beer Tasting and Dinner Benefit for Garden of the 

Coastal Plain 
G) Consideration of a Motion to approve the due date of December 20, 2013 for the  
      City of Statesboro Property Tax Bills 



 
 

H) Consideration of a Motion to approve Resolution 2013-31: A Resolution adopting 
maximum fees for towing and storage of illegally parked vehicles. 

I) Consideration of a Motion to adopt Resolution 2013-32: A Resolution Adopting the 
Schedule of Fees and Charges for the Water and Wastewater Department of the City 
of Statesboro, Georgia. 

 
6. Consideration of a Motion to approve “Vehicle for Hire” 

a) D W Yellow Cab – Timothy P. McCarty(Driver) 
 

7. Consideration of a Motion to approve Resolution 2013-30: A Resolution setting the 
millage rate for ad valorem (property) taxes for the 2013 calendar year for the city of 
Statesboro, Georgia at 6.358. 
 

8. Consideration of a motion to approve a policy within the Fleet Maintenance Division to 
provide a 5% step increase upon obtaining a commercial driver’s license (CDL) for the 
Mechanic I, II and III positions. 

 
9. Consideration of a Motion to award a contract to purchase retro-setters for the lowest 

responsive bid amount of $286,561.50 to Kendall Supply  
 

10. Consideration of a Motion to award the low bid on the Whitesville Lift Station upgrade 
and Lakeview Force Main Extension to Southeastern Civil, Inc. in the amount of 
$457,896.30 
 

11. Consideration of a Motion to award the low bid on the Cawana Road Sewer and Water 
Infrastructure to Y-Delta, Inc. in the amount of $1,023,536.13. 
 

12. Consideration of a Motion to approve an Intergovernmental Agreement for Fire 
Protection Services 

 
13. Other Business from City Council 

 
14. Public Comments (General) 

Mr. Bill Thomas request to speak to Council 
 

15. Consideration of a Motion to Adjourn 



 
 

CITY OF STATESBORO 
  CITY COUNCIL MINUTES 

August 20, 2013 

A regular meeting of the Statesboro City Council was held on August 20, 2013 at 6:00 pm in the 
Council Chambers at City Hall Present were Mayor Joe R. Brannen, Council Members: Will 
Britt, Phil Boyum, John Riggs and Gary Lewis.  Also present were City Manager Frank Parker, 
City Clerk Sue Starling, City Attorney Alvin Leaphart, City Engineer Robert Cheshire and 
Director of Community Development Mandi Cody. Councilman Travis Chance was absent. 
Councilman Phil Boyum arrived at 6:07 pm 
 
The meeting was called to order by Mayor Joe Brannen 
Mayor Pro Tem Will Britt announced the birth of their first child: London Rose Britt 
 
The Invocation was given by Reverend H. R. Lee and Pledge of Allegiance was led by 
Councilman Gary Lewis 
  
Recognitions/Public Presentations: None 
 
Public Comments (Agenda Item): None 

 
Consideration of a Motion to approve the Consent Agenda 
 

A) Approval of Minutes 
a)   08-06-2013 Council Minutes 
b)   08-06-0213 Executive Session Minutes 
 

B) Notification of alcohol license application: 
a) Licensee:  Christopher Scott Springfield 

DBA:  South City Tavern 
Location:  1830 Chandler Road 
Type of Alcohol License:  Pouring – Beer, Wine & Liquor 
Type of Business:  Sports Restaurant 
 

C) Consideration of a Motion to approve “Vehicle for Hire” 
a) D W Yellow Cab – Harold F Piet (Driver) 

 
Councilman Riggs made a motion, seconded by Mayor Pro Tem Will Britt to approve the 
consent agenda in its entirety. Councilman Britt, Riggs and Lewis voted in favor of the motion. 
The motion carried by a 3-0 vote. 
 
 
 



 
 

Consideration of a Motion to approve Resolution 2013-27: A Resolution to Close a Portion 
of the Alley between Donehoo Street and Granade Street. 
 
Mayor Pro Tem Will Britt made a motion, seconded by Councilman Riggs to approve 
Resolution 2013-27: A Resolution to Close a Portion of the Alley between Donehoo Street and 
Granade Street. Councilman Britt, Riggs and Lewis voted in favor of the motion. The motion 
carried by a 3-0 vote. 
 
Councilman Phil Boyum joined the meeting. 

 
Public Hearing and Consideration of a Motion to approve the following request: 

 
a) ORDINANCE 2013-14 with APPLICATION # AN 13-03-07: George Terrell 

Beasley requests annexation by the 100 percent method of 57.5 acres of 
property located at Cawana Road into the City of Statesboro and for said 
property to be zoned CR (Commercial Retail) and PUD –Planned Unit 
Development for residential development. (Tax Parcel Number 107 000005 
000). 

 
Rachel Edwards representing the Beasley family spoke in favor of the request. Councilman 
Riggs made a motion to include staff recommendations, seconded by Councilman Lewis to 
approve ORDINANCE 2013-14 with APPLICATION # AN 13-03-07: George Terrell Beasley 
requests annexation by the 100 percent method of 57.5 acres of property located at Cawana Road 
into the City of Statesboro and for said property to be zoned CR (Commercial Retail) and PUD –
Planned Unit Development for residential development. (Tax Parcel Number 107 000005 000). 
Councilman Britt, Boyum, Riggs and Lewis voted in favor of the motion. The motion carried by 
a 4-0 vote. 
 

b) ORDINANCE 2013-15 with APPLICATION # AN 13-03-08: Walter Ray 
Beasley requests annexation by the 100 percent method of 60.92  acres of 
property located at  Josh Hagin Road into the City of Statesboro and for 
such property to be zoned R 8 and R 10 Single Family Residential (Tax 
Parcel Number 107 000009 000). 

 
Rachel Edwards stated if anyone had questions she would be glad to answer them. There were no 
questions asked of her. Councilman Boyum made a motion, seconded by Mayor Pro Tem Will 
Britt to approve ORDINANCE 2013-15 with APPLICATION # AN 13-03-08: Walter Ray 
Beasley requests annexation by the 100 percent method of 60.92 acres of property located at Josh 
Hagin Road into the City of Statesboro and for such property to be zoned R 8 and R 10 Single 
Family Residential (Tax Parcel Number 107 000009 000). 
 
Mayor Pro Tem Will Britt went back to item (A) to discuss sidewalks in the area. He was 
thinking the sidewalks were in item (B). He would like to see sidewalks joining Sallie Zetterower 
School so kids could ride their bikes to and from the school. City Attorney Alvin Leaphart stated 
Council would have to vacate the vote that was taken previously on item (A) if they wanted to 
change the contents of the motion. Councilman Boyum made a motion, seconded by Mayor Pro 



 
 

Tem Will Britt to vacate the previous vote on item (A). Councilman Britt, Boyum, Riggs and 
Lewis voted in favor of the motion. The motion carried by a 4-0 vote. 
 
Mayor Pro Tem Will Britt made a motion, seconded by Councilman Riggs to approve item (A) 
with the condition to build sidewalks to connect to Sallie Zetterower School subject to Planning 
and Engineering’s approval as well as the other recommendations from staff. Councilman Britt, 
Boyum, Riggs and Lewis voted in favor of the motion. The motion carried by a 4-0 vote. 
 
Consideration of a Motion to approve an Outdoor Event Permit: 

      a)   Applicant’s Name:                        Jennifer Kennedy 
Date and Time of Event:              September 6, 2013, 5:00 p.m. 
Location of Event:                         106 Savannah Avenue 
Type of Event:                                First Friday, Taste of Statesboro 
Products served:                           Beer 

 
City Manager explained the event would be adjacent to the Eagle Creek Brewery. Director of the 
DSDA Allen Muldrew stated this event would be part of the First Friday festivities. They would 
be selling alcohol outside in front of the building. Councilman Lewis stated his concerns with 
public intoxication and safety of the citizens. Mayor Pro Tem Will Britt was concerned with the 
application and fee. He stated he was not sure this would be the appropriate application and fee 
for such an event even though this is the only outdoor permit the City has for outdoor special 
events.  City Manager asked Council for the possibility of the fee being waived or discounted. 
Mayor Pro Tem Will Britt stated the City has an Ordinance with the conditions that have to be 
met to have an event of this kind. City Attorney Alvin Leaphart stated he would have to see what 
the State would allow or require in this particular event. Daniel Long of the Eagle Creek 
Brewery spoke in favor of the request but also stated his company could not use their alcohol 
license to host the event. The person hosting the event does not have an alcohol license nor a 
place of business. Councilman Lewis made a motion, seconded by Mayor Pro Tem Will Britt to 
postpone this item until the next meeting and asked Alvin to look into the State requirements. 
Councilman Britt, Boyum, Riggs and Lewis voted in favor of the motion. The motion carried by 
a 4-0 vote. 
 
Consideration of a Motion to change one of the two custodial positions from part-time to 
full-time status 
 
City Engineer Robert Cheshire stated upcoming changes to federal regulations are going to 
require the City to provide benefits for employees working more than 29 hours. Currently, we 
have 2 part time custodians that maintain 6 buildings.  In order to be in compliance, we have 2 
choices; to either reduce the number of hours for each custodian now or offer one custodian full 
time status. Councilman Boyum made a motion, seconded by Mayor Pro Tem Will Britt to 
change one of the two custodial positions from part-time to full-time status. Councilman Britt, 
Boyum, Riggs and Lewis voted in favor of the motion. The motion carried by a 4-0 vote. 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 

Consideration of a motion to approve creation of the following positions in the IT 
Department:  IT Systems Analyst at grade 16, GIS Technician at grade 14 
 
Director of Information Technology Bryant Tatum stated the pay raise for the GIS Technician 
would be funded by the Wastewater and Public Works Department. Councilman Boyum made a 
motion, seconded by Councilman Riggs to approve the creation of the following positions in the 
IT Department:  IT Systems Analyst at grade 16, GIS Technician at grade 14. Councilman Britt, 
Boyum, Riggs and Lewis voted in favor of the motion. The motion carried by a 4-0 vote. 
 
Consideration of a motion to approve changing the IT Systems Specialist position from a 
grade 12 to a grade 14 
 
Director of Information Technology Bryant Tatum stated this position would be funded by the 
general fund. Mayor Pro Tem Will Britt made a motion, seconded by Councilman Lewis to 
approve changing the IT Systems Specialist position from a grade 12 to a grade 14. Councilman 
Britt, Boyum, Riggs and Lewis voted in favor of the motion. The motion carried by a 4-0 vote. 
 
Consideration of a Motion to approve the purchase of Police Vehicles from State Contract 
#SWC90796-2 for an amount not to exceed the budgeted total of $350,000. These funds are 
from SPLOST 2007 dollars. 
 
Councilman Riggs made a motion, seconded by Mayor Pro Tem Will Britt to approve the 
purchase of Police Vehicles from State Contract #SWC90796-2 for an amount not to exceed the 
budgeted total of $350,000. These funds are from SPLOST 2007 dollars. Councilman Britt, 
Boyum, Riggs and Lewis voted in favor of the motion. The motion carried by a 4-0 vote. 
 
Notification to Mayor and Council of an awarded grant from NTOA to the Police 
Department: One Taser X-2 system to include holster, cartridges, and power module (est. 
$1,500 value). This grant was applied for by ERT Cpl. Jake Saxon. 
 
There was no vote on this item. Director of Public Safety Wendell Turner was updating Mayor 
and Council of the awarded grant. 
  
Nomination and Consideration of Appointment to fill the vacant seat on the Statesboro 
Planning Commission 
 
Director of Planning and Development Mandi Cody made a recommendation to Council for the 
reappointment of Rick Barr to the Statesboro Planning Commission. His current 2 year term is 
ending. Councilman Riggs made a motion, seconded by Mayor Pro Tem Will Britt to reappoint 
Rick Barr to the Statesboro Planning Commission for another 2 year term. Councilman Britt, 
Boyum, Riggs and Lewis voted in favor of the motion. The motion carried by a 4-0 vote. 
  

 
 
 



 
 

Consideration of a Motion to approve Resolution 2013-29: A Resolution Accepting Right of 
Way of Aspen Heights Drive as a Public Street to be Owned and Maintained by the City of 
Statesboro, Georgia. 
 
Mayor Pro Tem Will Britt made a motion, seconded by Councilman Boyum to approve 
Resolution 2013-29: A Resolution Accepting Right of Way of Aspen Heights Drive as a Public 
Street to be Owned and Maintained by the City of Statesboro, Georgia. Councilman Britt, 
Boyum, Riggs and Lewis voted in favor of the motion. The motion carried by a 4-0 vote. 
 
Consideration of a motion to approve the fire department to apply for the open SAFER 
grant for additional firefighters 
 
Director of Public Safety Wendell Turner stated the grant was 100% funded. Councilman Boyum 
made a motion, seconded by Mayor Pro Tem Will Britt to approve the fire department to apply 
for the open SAFER grant for additional firefighters. Councilman Britt, Boyum, Riggs and Lewis 
voted in favor of the motion. The motion carried by a 4-0 vote. 
 
Consideration for a motion to approve the Mayor to enter into a contract between the Fire 
Department and OTC for the delivery of Firefighter Level 1 training 
 
Mayor Brannen stated this item has been pulled from the agenda. 
 
Consideration of a Motion to enter into Executive Session to discuss “Potential Litigation” 
in accordance with O.C.G.A.§50-14-3 (2012) 
 
At 7:25 pm, Councilman Boyum made a motion, seconded by Councilman Riggs to enter into 
Executive Session with a 10 minute break. Councilman Britt, Boyum, Lewis and Riggs voted in 
favor of the motion. The motion carried by a 4-0 vote. 
Present were Mayor Joe Brannen, Council Members: Will Britt, John Riggs, Gary Lewis and 
Phil Boyum.  Also present were City Manager Frank Parker, City Clerk Sue Starling, City 
Attorney Alvin Leaphart and Director of Human Resource Jeff Grant. Councilman Travis 
Chance was absent from the Executive Session. 
 
Regular Session 
Councilman Lewis made a motion, seconded by Mayor Pro Tem Will Britt to come out of 
Executive Session at 8:10 pm. Councilman Britt, Boyum, Lewis and Riggs voted in favor of the 
motion. The motion carried by a 4-0 vote. 

Mayor Brannen called the regular session back to order at 8:11 p.m. with no action taken. 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 

Consideration of a Motion to approve Resolution 2013-28: A “Resolution regarding 
applications RZ 13-04-02, RZ 13-04-03, RZ 13-04-04 to amend the Zoning Map of the City 
of Statesboro. 
 
Councilman Riggs made a motion, seconded by Mayor Pro Tem Will Britt to deny Resolution 
2013-28: A “Resolution regarding applications RZ 13-04-02, RZ 13-04-03, RZ 13-04-04 to 
amend the Zoning Map of the City of Statesboro. Councilman Britt, Boyum, Riggs and Lewis 
voted in favor of the motion. The motion carried by a 4-0 vote. 
 
Other Business from City Council 
 
Councilman Boyum made a motion, seconded by Mayor Pro Tem Will Britt to reinstate the pay 
scale classification for the Statesboro Fire Fighters according to personnel policy. Councilman 
Britt, Boyum, Riggs and Lewis voted in favor of the motion. The motion carried by a 4-0 vote. 
 
Public Safety Director Wendell Turner asked Council to approve the application for a Fire House 
Sub Grant based on the purchasing policy. Councilman Boyum made a motion, seconded by 
Councilman Lewis to approve the application of the Fire House Sub. Councilman Britt, Boyum, 
Riggs and Lewis voted in favor of the motion. The motion carried by a 4-0 vote. 
 
Public Comments (General) 

A) Bill Thomas request to address Council 
 
Bill Thomas addressed Council with what he believes to be fraud concerning a utility account for 
South Georgia Realty. He also stated he wants Council to call in the GBI to investigate the 
transparency of the City of Statesboro government. 
  
Consideration of a Motion to Adjourn 
 
Councilman Riggs made a motion, seconded by Mayor Pro Tem Will Britt to adjourn. 
Councilman Britt, Boyum, Riggs and Lewis voted in favor of the motion. The motion carried by 
a 4-0 vote. 
The meeting was adjourned at 8:20 pm. 





























































 

RESOLUTION 2013-31: A RESOLUTION ADOPTING MAXIMUM FEES FOR 
TOWING AND STORAGE OF ILLEGALLY PARKED VEHICLES 

 
 
 

THAT WHEREAS, the Mayor and City Council have received complaints about 
some wrecker services engaging in excessive towing and storage charges, cruising for 
business illegally, and using drop storage areas illegally; as well as some owners not properly 
posting their properties as required by state statute: and 

 
WHEREAS, the Mayor and City Council may regulate this activity in the absence of its 

regulation by the Georgia Public Service Commission: and 
 

WHEREAS, the Mayor and City Council have adopted an ordinance to regulate this 
activity, and said ordinance calls for certain fees to be established by the Mayor and City 
Council; and 

 
WHEREAS, the City Manager has proposed those fees for their consideration; 

 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED by the Mayor and City Council of the City of 

Statesboro, Georgia that the maximum fees for towing and storage of illegally parked vehicles 
removed without the permission of the vehicle owner, as authorized in Article VIII Sec.18-
235(b) of the City of Statesboro Code of Ordinance shall be in accordance with the fees as 
described in attached Exhibit A. 

 
This Resolution shall be and remain in full force and effect from and after its date of 

adoption. 
 

Adopted this 4th day of September, 2013 
 
 
 

THE MAYOR AND CITY COUNCIL OF STATESBORO, GEORGIA 
 
 
 
 

By:  ________________________ 
            Joe. R. Brannen, Mayor 

 
 
 
 

Attest: _________________________ 
                Sue Starling, City Clerk 



 



 
RESOLUTION #2013-32: A RESOLUTION ADOPTING THE SCHEDULE OF  

FEES AND CHARGES FOR THE WATER AND WASTEWATER DEPARTMENT  
OF THE CITY OF STATESBORO, GEORGIA 

 
 THAT WHEREAS, the City of Statesboro operates a Water and Wastewater Department, 
which operates and maintains the physical plant necessary to treat, test, pump, store, and 
distribute potable water; and to collect, pump, treat, test, and discharge wastewater meeting all 
federal and state laws and administrative regulations; and 
 
 WHEREAS, in order to finance some of these operations, the City has previously and 
must continue to impose various fees and charges; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Mayor and City Council have previously implemented said schedule of 
fees and charges; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the City Manager has recommended an increase in the schedule of fees and 
charges to help offset the effects of inflation over the last two years; and an increase in tap fees 
to offset the actual costs to the City;   
 
 NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Mayor and City Council of the City of 
Statesboro, Georgia this ___ day of ______, 2013 as follows: 
 
 Section 1. That the document entitled “Schedule of Fees and Charges for the Water and 
Wastewater Department of the City of Statesboro, Georgia”, attached hereto and incorporated 
into this Resolution by reference, is hereby adopted and approved as the fees and charges 
authorized to be charged by the department. 
 
 Section 2.  That any provision of any ordinance or resolution, or administrative policy in 
conflict with this schedule for the Water and Wastewater Department is hereby repealed to the 
extent of any such conflict; and the provisions of this Resolution shall take precedence in 
determining the fees and charges to which they apply. 

   
 Section 3.  That this Resolution shall be and remain effective from and after its date of 
adoption. 
 
 Adopted this ______ day of ________, 2013. 

CITY OF STATESBORO, GEORGIA 
_________________________________ 
By: Joe Brannen, Mayor  
 
_________________________________ 
Attest: Sue Starling, City Clerk 

 
 



Schedule of Fees and Charges for the Water and Wastewater Department 
of the City of Statesboro, Georgia 

September 04, 2013 
 

WATER AND SEWER RATES: 
 
1) Water and Sewer Residential Customers Inside City Limits: 
 
    Base Charge Water = $6.50/Month   
    0-9,000       gallons     at $2.25 per 1,000 gal  
    10-19,000   gallons     at $2.35 per 1,000 gal 
    20- 49,000  gallons     at $2.60 per 1,000 gal 
    ALL OVER 49,000 gal at $3.15 per 1,000 gal 
 
    Base Charge Sewer = $6.50/Month   
    0-9,000 gallons           at $2.70 per 1,000 gal 
    10-49,000 gallons       at $2.80 per 1,000 gal      
    ALL OVER 49,000 gal at $2.90 per 1,000 gal 
 
2) Water Only Residential Customers Inside City Limits: 
 
    Base Charge Water = $13.00/Month   
    0-9,000      gallons    at $2.25 per 1,000 gal 
    10-19,000  gallons    at $2.35 per 1,000 gal 
    20-49,000  gallons    at $2.60 per 1,000 gal 
    ALL OVER 49,000 gal at $3.15 per 1,000 gal 
 
3) Water Only Irrigation Inside City Limits: 
 
    Base Charge Water = $13.00/Month   
    0-9,000      gallons    at $2.25 per 1,000 gal 
    10-19,000  gallons    at $2.35 per 1,000 gal 
    20-49,000  gallons    at $2.60 per 1,000 gal 
    ALL OVER 49,000 gal at $3.15 per 1,000 gal 
 
4) Sewer Only Residential Customers Inside City Limits: 
 
    Base Charge Sewer = $13.00/Month  
    0-9,000       gallons at $2.70 per 1,000 gal 
    10-49,000   gallons at $2.80 per 1,000 gal 
    ALL OVER 49,000gal at $2.90 per 1,000 gal  
 
 
 
 
 



INDUSTRIAL RATES INSIDE CITY LIMITS:(Located within Gateway or Holland 
Industrial Park or Requires an Industrial Pretreatment Permit) 
5) Water and Sewer Industrial Customers Inside City Limits: 
   Base Charge Water = $12.00/Month  
   0-9,000                   gallons at $4.30 per 1,000 gal 
 10-19,000                 gallons at $4.50 per 1,000 gal 
 ALL OVER 19,000  gallons at $4.70 per 1,000 gal 
 
Base Charge Sewer = $12.00/Month  
  0-9,000                   gallons at $5.20 per 1,000 gal 
10-19,000                 gallons at $5.40 per 1,000 gal 
ALL OVER 19,000  gallons at $5.60 per 1,000 gal 
 
6)   Water Only Industrial Customers Inside City Limits: 
      Base Charge Water = $24.00/Month  
       0-9,000                    gallons at $4.30 per 1,000 gal 
      10-19,000                 gallons at $4.50 per 1,000 gal 
      ALL OVER 19,000   gallons at $4.70 per 1,000 gal 
 
7)  Sewer Only Industrial Customers Inside City Limits: 
     Base Charge Sewer = $24.00/Month  
     0-9,000                     gallons at $5.20 per 1,000 gal 
    10-19,000                 gallons at $5.40 per 1,000 gal 
   ALL OVER 19,000   gallons at $5.60 per 1,000 gal  
 
 
8) Water and Sewer Commercial Customers Inside City Limits: 
   Base Charge Water = 6..50/Month  
   0-9,000                   gallons at $2.25  per 1,000 gal 
 10-19,000                 gallons at $2.35 per 1,000 gal 
 ALL OVER 19,000  gallons at $2.45 per 1,000 gal 
 
Base Charge Sewer = $6.50/Month  
  0-9,000                   gallons at $2.70  per 1,000 gal 
10-19,000                 gallons at $2.80 per 1,000 gal 
ALL OVER 19,000  gallons at $2.90 per 1,000 gal 
 
9)   Water Only Commercial Customers Inside City Limits: 
      Base Charge Water = $13.00/Month  
       0-9,000                    gallons at $2.25  per 1,000 gal 
      10-19,000                 gallons at $235  per 1,000 gal 
      ALL OVER 19,000   gallons at $2.45 per 1,000 gal 
 
 
 
 



 
10) Sewer Only Commercial Customers Inside City Limits: 
     Base Charge Sewer = $13.00/Month    
     0-9,000                     gallons at $2.70 per 1,000 gal 
    10-19,000                 gallons at $2.80 per 1,000 gal 
   ALL OVER 19,000   gallons at $2.90 per 1,000 gal  
 
GOVERNMENTAL RATES INSIDE CITY LIMITS: 
( COUNTY: STATE: FEDERAL ENTITIES: SCHOOL BOARDS: BOARD OF REGENTS) 
11) Water and Sewer Governmental Customers Inside City Limits: 
   Base Charge Water =  $13.50/Month 
   0-9,000                   gallons at $4.05 per 1,000 gal 
 10-19,000                 gallons at $4.30 per 1,000 gal 
 ALL OVER 19,000  gallons at  $4.50 per 1,000 gal 
 
Base Charge Sewer =  $13.50/Month 
  0-9,000                   gallons at  $4.90 per 1,000 gal 
10-19,000                 gallons at $5.10 per 1,000 gal 
ALL OVER 19,000  gallons at $5.35 per 1,000 gal 
 
12)  Water Only Governmental Customers Inside City Limits: 
 
      Base Charge Water =  $27.00/Month 
       0-9,000                    gallons at $4.05 per 1,000 gal 
      10-19,000                 gallons at $4.30 per 1,000 gal 
      ALL OVER 19,000   gallons at $4.50 per 1,000 gal 
 
13) Sewer Only Governmental Customers Inside City Limits: 
     Base Charge Sewer = $27.00/Month 
     0-9,000                     gallons at $4.90 per 1,000 gal 
    10-19,000                 gallons at $5.10 per 1,000 gal 
   ALL OVER 19,000   gallons at $5.35 per 1,000 gal 
 
14) Water and Sewer Residential Customers  Outside City Limits: 
 
      Base Charge Water = $13.00/Month   
      0-9,000        gallons at $4.50 per 1,000 gal     
      10-19,000    gallons at $4.70 per 1,000 gal 
      20-49,000    gallons at $5.20 per 1,000 gal 
      ALL OVER 49,000 gallons at $6.30 per 1,000 gal 
 
     Base Charge Sewer = $13.00/Month   
     0-9,000       gallons at $5.40 per 1,000 gal 
     10-49,000   gallons at $5.60 per 1,000 gal 
     ALL OVER 49,000 gal at $5.80 per 1,000 gal 
 



15) Water Only Residential Customers  Outside City Limits: 
 
      Base Charge Water = $26.00/Month   
      0-9,000      gallons at $4.50 per 1,000 gal  
      10-19,000  gallons at $4.70 per 1,000 gal 
      20-49,000  gallons at $5.20 per 1,000 gal 
      ALL OVER 49,000  gallons at $6.30 per 1,000 gal        
 
16) Water Only Irrigation  Outside City Limits: 
 
      Base Charge Water = $26.00/Month   
      0-9,000      gallons at $4.50 per 1,000 gal  
      10-19,000  gallons at $4.70 per 1,000 gal 
      20-49,000  gallons at $5.20 per 1,000 gal 
      ALL OVER 49,000  gallons at $6.30 per 1,000 gal        
 
17) Sewer Only Residential Customers  Outside City Limits: 
 
      Base Charge Sewer = $26.00/Month  
      0-9,000     gallons at $5.40 per 1,000 gal 
      10-49,000 gallons at $5.60 per 1,000 gal 
      ALL OVER 49,000 gal at $5.80 per 1,000 gal 
 
INDUSTRIAL RATES OUTSIDE CITY LIMITS:(Located In Gateway or Holland Industrial 
Park or Requires Industrial Pretreatment Permit) 
18)  Water and Sewer Industrial Customers Outside City Limits: 
       Base Charge Water = $12.00/Month 
      0-9,000                      gallons at $4.30 per 1,000 gal 
     10-19,000                  gallons at $4.50 per 1,000 gal 
    ALL OVER 19,000    gallons at $4.70 per 1,000 gal 
 
    Base Charge Sewer = $12.00/Month 
   0-9,000                      gallons at $5.20 per 1,000 gal 
  10-19,000                  gallons at $5.40 per 1,000 gal 
 ALL OVER 19,000    gallons at $5.60 per 1,000 gal 
 
19)  Water Only Industrial Customers Outside City Limits: 
       Base Charge Water = $24.00/Month 
       0-9,000                     gallons at $4.30 per 1,000 gal 
      10-19,000                 gallons at $4.50 per 1,000 gal 
     ALL OVER 19,000   gallons at $4.70 per 1,000 gal 
 
 
 
 
 



20)  Sewer Only Industrial Customers Outside City Limits: 
       Base Charge Sewer = $24.00/Month 
      0-9,000                      gallons at $5.20 per 1,000 gal 
     10-19,000                  gallons at $5.40 per 1,000 gal 
    ALL OVER 19,000    gallons at $5.60 per 1,000 gal 
 
COMMERCIAL RATES OUTSIDE CITY LIMITS: 
21)  Water and Sewer Commercial Customers Outside City Limits: 
       Base Charge Water = $13.00/Month  
      0-9,000                      gallons at $4.50 per 1,000 gal 
     10-19,000                  gallons at $4.70 per 1,000 gal 
    ALL OVER 19,000    gallons at $4.80 per 1,000 gal 
 
    Base Charge Sewer = $13.00/Month  
   0-9,000                      gallons at $5.40 per 1,000 gal 
  10-19,000                  gallons at $5.60 per 1,000 gal 
 ALL OVER 19,000    gallons at $5.80 per 1,000 gal 
 
22)  Water Only Commercial Customers Outside City Limits: 
       Base Charge Water = $26.00/Month  
       0-9,000                     gallons at $4.50 per 1,000 gal 
      10-19,000                 gallons at $4.70 per 1,000 gal 
     ALL OVER 19,000   gallons at $4.80 per 1,000 gal 
 
23)  Sewer Only Commercial Customers Outside City Limits: 
       Base Charge Sewer = $26.00/Month  
      0-9,000                      gallons at $5.40 per 1,000 gal 
     10-19,000                  gallons at $5.60 per 1,000 gal 
    ALL OVER 19,000    gallons at $5.80 per 1,000 gal 
 
GOVERNMENTAL RATES OUTSIDE CITY LIMITS: 
( COUNTY: STATE: FEDERAL ENTITIES: SCHOOL BOARDS: BOARD OF REGENTS ) 
24)  Water and Sewer Governmental Customers Outside City Limits: 
       Base Charge Water =  $18.00/Month 
      0-9,000                      gallons at $5.40 per 1,000 gal 
     10-19,000                  gallons at $5.70 per 1,000 gal 
    ALL OVER 19,000    gallons at $6.00 per 1,000 gal 
 
    Base Charge Sewer =  $18.00/Month 
   0-9,000                      gallons at $6.50 per 1,000 gal 
  10-19,000                  gallons at $6.80 per 1,000 gal 
 ALL OVER 19,000    gallons at $7.10 per 1,000 gal 
 
 
 
 



25)  Water Only Governmental Customers Outside City Limits: 
       Base Charge Water =  $36.00/Month 
       0-9,000                     gallons at $5.40 per 1,000 gal 
      10-19,000                 gallons at $5.70 per 1,000 gal 
     ALL OVER 19,000   gallons at $6.00 per 1,000 gal 
 
 
 
26)  Sewer Only Governmental Customers Outside City Limits: 
       Base Charge Sewer =  $36.00/Month 
      0-9,000                      gallons at $6.50 per 1,000 gal 
     10-19,000                  gallons at $6.80 per 1,000 gal 
    ALL OVER 19,000    gallons at $7.10 per 1,000 gal 
 
27)  Reclaimed Water Georgia Southern University 
       Base Charge 0 – 6,600,000 gallons = $4,356.00 
       6,600,001 – 15,000,000 gallons at $0.56 per 1,000 gal 
       ALL OVER 15,000,000 gallons at $1.50 per 1,000 gal 
Georgia Southern University Reclaimed Water Rate Established by Inter-Governmental 
Agreement 
 
28)  Reclaimed Water  Other Than Georgia Southern University 
       Base Charge = $18.00/Month 
       All USAGE at $1.50 per 1,000 gal 
       Supplemental Water When Reclaimed Water Is Not Available Shall be at the Lowest Billing  
       Tier for Irrigation Water Inside City Limits. 
 
NOTE: 
BASE CHARGES FOR ACCOUNTS SERVED BY A MASTER WATER METER shall be 
calculated by multiplying the number of entities served times the appropriate Base Charge.  

 
WATER AND SEWER TAP FEES: 

                                                                                                                                             
   Inside City             Outside City    
              Rate                        Rate 
4” SEWER (In R-6;R-8;R-10;R-15;R-20;R-30;R-40 or          $   200.00             $   300.00 
                      R-3 Districts if installed by the Developer) 
4” SEWER                                                                                $   600.00             $   900.00 
6” SEWER                                                                                $1,190.00             $ 1,785.00 
8” SEWER                                                                                $2,975.00             $ 4,463.00 
NOTE: 
Sewer Tap to serve more than one residential, apartment, business or commercial unit shall be 
calculated by multiplying the number of units served times the Fee for a 4” Sewer Tap. 
Example: 
20 apartments served by a single Sewer Tap Inside City     20 X $600.00 =  $12,000.00 Tap Fee 
20 apartments served by a Single Sewer Tap Outside City  20 X $900.00 = $18,000.00 Tap Fee 



 
AID TO CONSTRUCTION FEES (ATC FEES) 
$1.60  per gallon of sewer per day: As Calculated Based Upon Ordinance: 
 
¾” WATER ( In R-6;R-8;R-10;R-15;R-20;R-30 
       R-40 or R-3 District if installed by Developer)                $    950.00        $ 1,428.00 
3/4”WATER                                                                               $ 1,220.00        $ 1,825.00 
1”   WATER                                                                               $ 1,520.00        $ 2,280.00 
1-1/2” WATER                                                                           $ 2,740.00        $ 4,110.00 
2”   WATER                                                                               $ 3,800.00        $ 5,700.00 
3”   WATER                                                                               $ 5,320.00        $ 7,895.00 
4”   WATER                                                                               $ 8,365.00        $12,550.00 
6”   WATER                                                                               $12,930.00       $19,390.00 
8”   WATER                                                                               $19,010.00       $28,515.00 
10” WATER                                                                               $23,575.00       $35,360.00 
2”   FIRE SERVICE                                                                  $  3,800.00       $ 5,700.00 
3”   FIRE SERVICE                                                                  $ 5,320.00        $ 7,895.00 
4”   FIRE SERVICE                                                                  $ 8,365.00        $12,550.00 
6”   FIRE SERVICE                                                                  $12,930.00       $19,390.00 
8”   FIRE SERVICE                                                                  $19,010.00       $28,515.00 
10” FIRE SERVICE                                                                  $23,575.00       $35,360.00 

FIRE SPRINKLER SYSTEMS FEES: 
 
Monthly Fire Service Fees: 
Reidential, Commercial and Industrial within the FIRE SERVICE DISTRICT 
 $12.50 per inch of diameter of the Fire Service Supply Line.  
For example, if the Fire Service Supply Line is 6 inches in diameter, the Monthly Fire Service 
Fee would be $12.50 X 6" $75.00 
 
Residential, Commercial and Industrial outside of the FIRE SERVICE DISTRICT 
$15.00 per inch of diameter of thr Fire Service Line 
 
Governmental within the FIRE SERVICE DISTRICT 
$17.50 per inch of diameter of the Fire Service Line 
 
Governmental outside of the Fire Service District 
$20.00 per inch of diameter of the Fire Service Line 
 

TEMPORARY WATER SERVICE FROM FIRE HYDRANTS: 
 

1. A refundable security deposit of $700.00 per meter set will be charged.  
2. A one-time $60.00 service fee to set each meter will be charged. 
3. Actual water usage will be charged and billed using the applicable water rate 

schedule as determined by the Water/Sewer Superintendent.  
  
 



NOTES: 
 
1. On New Construction requiring extension of the City’s water and sewer mains, the    
            developer’s underground utility contractor shall make the required water and sewer   
            service taps and install water meters, meter boxes, backflow preventors, gate valves,       
            sewer tap saddles and sewer service lines. 
 
2. .Within residential subdivisions zoned R-6, R-8, R-10, R-15, R-20, R-30, R-40, or R-3  
            that require extension of the City’s water or sewer mains, the developer’s underground 
            utility contractor shall make the required water and sewer service taps and install water 
            meters, meter boxes, backflow preventors, gate valves, sewer service taps and sewer 
            service lines.  In those residential subdivisions not developed using the City’s Residential 
            Subdivision Incentive Program, the Sewer Tap Fee shall be $200.00 and the ¾”      
            Water Tap Fee shall be $952.00 in recognition of the fact that the City’s costs 
             will have been decreased by the developer’s installation. 
 
            
3.        The City shall supply Backflow Preventor for Fire Service Taps, to be installed by    

Customers contractor and Customer shall be responsible for furnishing/installing any 
required vault(s). 

            
4.  All water meters will be provided by the City.   
 
5. On 3/4" Water Taps the City shall furnish the meter box and backflow preventor 

 as well as the water meter. 
 
6. In new developments, the developer shall be responsible for furnishing and installing 
            required backflow preventors, required by-pass piping, meter boxes and/or vaults on all 
            Water Taps 1" or larger. 
 
7.         On Water Taps up to 2" in size, where City water mains are in existence, the City   
             Water Department shall tap the main and install the water meter and meter box.             
             The City shall furnish and install the backflow preventor on 3/4" services only. 
 
8.        The Developer shall be responsible for furnishing and installing backflow preventors and  
           required boxes and/or vaults to accommodate the backflow preventor on taps larger than  
           3/4". 

 
9.       On Sewer Taps up to 6", where City sewer mains are in existence, the developer’s 

     contractor shall excavate the City Sewer main to allow City Water/Sewer personnel to   
     physically tap the sewer main and install the appropriate sewer tap saddle. The Contractor  
     shall be responsible for installing the sewer service lateral and all backfill and street 
     repairs. 

  
 

 



 
 
 
 
 

SEPTIC SEWER FEES: 
Fees For Approved Septic Tank Haulers: 
Regular/Single Family Septic Fee                $65.00 per 1,000 gallons of Truck Tank Capacity 
Grease Trap Grey Water Septic Fee          $65.00 per 1,000 gallons of Truck Tank Capacity or,    
                                                                                       1,000 gallons of Discharge to System 
 
 
Fees for Portable Toilets                       $37.50 per Load or portion thereof 
                                                                        ( Maximum of 500 gallons per load ) 

 
 

WATER TESTING FEE: 
 
For City of Statesboro Water Customers                    No Charge                                                                                           
For All Others                                                              $100.00 
 
 

RETURN TRIP SERVICE FEE: 
There will be a $40.00 fee for each additional trip that service personnel have to make to turn 
water service on, where the meter indicates that water may be flowing in the house and no one is 
at home to turn the water off.  Under these circumstances, the City personnel have no choice but 
to cut the service back off to protect from possible flooding of the building.  They then must 
return at a later time to cut the service back on. 
 
 
Water Service Fee               $25.00 
Gas Service Fee                   $25.00 
 
Account Establishment Fee $30.00 
Collection Fee ( Non-payment) $50.00 
 
Seasonal Gas Reconnect Fee $55.00 
 
 
5 Day Cleaning Turn On Fee: $ 55.35 plus consumption 
 













































 RESOLUTION 2013-30: A RESOLUTION SETTING THE MILLAGE RATE FOR AD 
VALOREM (PROPERTY) TAXES FOR THE 2013 CALENDAR YEAR FOR THE CITY OF 
STATESBORO, GEORGIA AT 6.358. 

THAT WHEREAS, cities in Georgia rely upon the ad valorem (property) tax as one of the major 
sources of revenue to finance general government operations and capital outlay acquisitions; and  

WHEREAS, Chapter 5 of Title 48 of the Official Code of Georgia authorizes cities to levy an ad 
valorem tax, and details the requirements necessary to do so; and  

WHEREAS, the City of Statesboro has complied with those requirements, including the 
advertisement of the proposed millage rate and a five-year history of levies; percentage 
increases; and whether a rollback of the millage rate was required; and  

WHEREAS, after careful consideration of the FY 2014 Operating Budget and Capital Budget, 
the growth in the tax digest from new construction, and the recommendation from the City Clerk 
that the millage rate be set at the same rate as the prior tax year;  

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Mayor and City Council of the City of 
Statesboro, Georgia assembled this 4th day of September, 2013, as follows:  

\ Section 1. That the millage rate for ad valorem (property) tax purposes for calendar year  
2013 is hereby set at 6.358 mills on all of the taxable real and personal property within the 
corporate limits of the City of Statesboro, Georgia, after applying all legal exemptions, credits, 
tax relief grants, and similarly authorized deductions.  

Section  2. The City Clerk is hereby authorized, empowered, and directed to have the necessary 
tax bills prepared and mailed, and to use any and all statutorily-approved methods to collect said 
property taxes in a timely manner.  

Passed and adopted this____ day of __________, 2013.  

CITY OF STATESBORO, GEORGIA  

 

By: ________________________ 
                                                                                                                 Joe. R. Brannen, Mayor  

 
 

Attest: _______________________ 
                                                                                                                    Sue Starling, City Clerk  
 





















 

Purchasing 

 

Memo 
 
 
TO:  Frank Parker, City Manager 
  
FROM: Darren Prather, Purchasing Director 
 
DATE: 8-28-2014 
 
Re:   Bid Award—Retro-setters/Water Sewer 
 
The City of Statesboro recently issued an invitation to bid for two (2) sizes of retro-setters for use by the Water and 
Sewer Department. These retro-setters allow for the installation of meters and back-flow preventers without having to 
dig up customer service lines and meter boxes—some of which are encased in concrete. Vendors were to bid on a ¾ 
inch and 1inch size unit. In addition, we projected the number of each size needed for the year (2,370 ¾ inch units and 
150 1 inch units). The submitted bid price per unit was then multiplied times the number needed to obtain the 
cumulative bid price on each size. At that point, totals for each size were added to form a grand bid total. A total of four 
(4) vendors submitted sealed bids and they are as follows: 
 
        Vendor   ¾ inch retro-setter  1 inch retro-setter  Total 
 

1. Consolidated Pipe Supply $109.35 ea. ($259,159.50) $202.70 ea.($30,405) $289,564.50 
2. HD Supply  $109.75 ea. ($260,107.50) $210.95 ea.($31,642.50) $291,750 
3. Ferguson   $108.77 ea. ($257,784.90) $209.17 ea.($31,375.50) $289,160.40 
4. Kendall Supply  $107.80 ea. ($255,486) $207.17 ea.($31,075.50) $286,561.50 

 
 
Having submitted the lowest cumulative responsive bid of $286,561.50, we recommend the contract be awarded to 
Kendall Supply. Since all vendors are outside the Bulloch County area, the three percent local preference does not 
apply to this bid process. 
 



























STATE OF GEORGIA 
 
COUNTY OF BULLOCH 
 

 
INTERGOVERNMENTAL AGREEMENT FOR FIRE PROTECTION SERVICES  

 
 
This intergovernmental agreement is entered into this ______________ day of 
_________________, 2013 by and between the MAYOR AND COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
STATESBORO, GEORGIA, a municipal corporation (hereinafter “the City”) and BULLOCH 
COUNTY, a political subdivision of the State of Georgia, acting by and through its 
governing authority, the BULLOCH COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 
(hereinafter “the County”). 
 

 
WITNESSETH: 

 
WHEREAS, the City of Statesboro operates a paid fire department currently with two stations 
fully manned around the clock that provides fire suppression and prevention services to its 
citizens; and, 
 
WHEREAS, given the amount of staffing, training, equipment and water supply, and 
communications available to the fire department, the Insurance Services Office (ISO) has 
determined that the Statesboro Fire Department currently qualifies for a Class 3 Fire Insurance 
Rating, on a scale of 1 (best) to 10 (uninsured); and, 
 
WHEREAS, the ISO recognizes the same fire insurance rating for areas outside the limits as 
inside, if those areas are within a five-mile travel distance of one of the City’s fire stations, there 
is available water to the site, and there is an agreement in place to assure response; and, 
 
WHEREAS, the availability of a quick response by a fire department staffed around the clock as 
supplemented by a County fire department, currently consisting of volunteer/reservists, offers a 
reduction in homeowners and business property insurance premiums that more than offsets the 
additional taxes that would be collected by establishing a fire district for those properties outside 
the City, but within the five-mile travel distance of a City fire station; and, 
 
WHEREAS, the City is willing to provide fire suppression services within such an area, and the 
County has determined that doing so will provide those citizens with a higher level of fire 
protection at a net reduced cost when insurance premiums and a fire tax district are compared; 
and,  
 
WHEREAS, the City and County have such a fire district currently in place, and wish to 
continue it for the duration of this Agreement, or subsequent renewal, as the most cost effective 
and efficient means of providing fire protection to this area; and 
 
WHEREAS, pursuant to a previous agreement the County withheld a certain portion of money 
previously collected from the aforesaid fire district to assist the County with the provision of  



 
 
 
County fire services within the fire district, and the parties now desire to specify how such funds 
shall be expended in this Agreement;  
 
NOW, THEREFORE, both parties, City and County, covenant and agree as follows: 

 
-1- 

 
The County has established a special fire tax district, hereinafter referred to as the "Statesboro 
Fire Tax District" or "SFT District," based upon the five mile driving distance from City fire 
stations required by the ISO for a property to receive the same ISO rating as provided in the City. 
The current boundaries of the SFT District are indicated by the area in blue on the map attached 
hereto as Exhibit A.  The SFT District shall be designated upon a map prepared and maintained 
by the County’s GIS Division. The boundaries shall be clearly defined, and the parcels affected 
coded appropriately so that the SFT District tax can be added to the County’s property tax bill 
for each parcel. The County shall furnish to the City a reasonable number of such maps at no 
cost.  The County agrees to maintain the current SFT District for the duration of this Agreement. 
 

-2- 
 

The money collected from the SFT District tax shall be paid to the City of Statesboro by the 20th 
day of each month for which tax receipts are collected prior to the beginning of that particular 
month to pay for the services rendered by the Statesboro Fire Department. The City hereby 
agrees to establish a Special Revenue Fund, entitled the “Statesboro Fire Services Fund”, and 
shall account for financial activities accordingly. Any funding remaining at fiscal year-end shall 
remain in this fund as fund balance, to be used as necessary in future years. 

 
-3- 

 
The City and County recognize that property taxes are not billed until mid-October, and are not 
overdue until mid-December of each fiscal year. Consequently the funding to pay for this service 
will not be immediately available each year. It is agreed by the parties that the City, the County, 
or some combination thereof, may loan the Statesboro Fire Services Fund the necessary funds 
each year to cover this temporary cash flow shortage. In that event, each entity shall be entitled 
to interest on that temporary loan equal to what it would have earned each month on said funds 
had it been invested in the City's or County’s overnight investment accounts. Said interest shall 
constitute a valid expense of the Statesboro Fire Services Fund. Any funds in the Statesboro Fire 
Services Fund shall earn monthly the same rate of interest as the City’s other overnight 
investment accounts earn for said month. 
 

-4- 
 
Pursuant to a previous agreement the County withheld a certain portion of money previously 
collected from the SFT District to assist the County with the provision of fire services within the 
SFT District.  The current balance of funds so withheld by the County is Two Hundred and Forty 
Thousand and No/100 Dollars ($240,000.00) (hereinafter referred to as “the County SFT District 



Fund Balance”).  The parties hereby agree that the County and City will share the total costs of 
establishing the Training Complex on Highway 301 North including, but not limited to, the 
dismantling and relocation of the Training Tower on Grady Street to the Training Complex.  The 
County shall use funds from the County SFT District Fund Balance to pay 50% of the total costs 
of establishing the Training Complex on Highway 301 North including, but not limited to, the 
dismantling and relocation of the Training Tower on Grady Street to the Training Complex, but 
in no case shall the County’s share of these total costs exceed $40,000.00.  The County shall use 
funds from the County SFT District Fund Balance to pay the costs of implementing a long-hose 
lay system, the costs of acquisition of fire apparatus, and the costs of the drought study.   After 
the costs of implementation of a long-hose lay system, the acquisition of fire apparatus, and the 
drought study have been paid, the balance of funds in the County SFT District Fund Balance, if 
any, shall be paid to the City for deposit into the Statesboro Fire Services Fund and to be used for 
providing fire suppression services within the SFT District.    

 
-5- 

 
The City and County may jointly amend the boundaries of the SFT District as well as the term of 
this agreement at any time by mutual consent, and shall work together on any proposed 
expansions of the SFT District in the event that the City considers the addition of a fire station(s).  
In the event the City constructs an additional fire station(s), the County may, but shall not be 
obligated to, expand the boundaries of the SFT District and/or lengthen the term of this 
agreement.  The County shall not construct any fire delivery infrastructure in the SFT District or 
within the city limits of the City of Statesboro during the term of this Agreement. 
 

-6- 
 
There is hereby created the Statesboro Fire Tax District Review Committee consisting of the 
Chairman of the Board of Commissioners, a Commissioner appointed by the Chairman, the 
County Public Safety Director, the County Fire Chief, the Mayor, a Councilman appointed by 
the Mayor, the City Public Safety Director, and the City Fire Chief to review and advise the 
governing bodies regarding fire services, including, but not necessarily limited to placement of 
any new fire stations, possible expansion of the SFTD, joint training and the advisability of a 
longer-term agreement.  This committee shall have its regular meeting the first Monday in 
October each year at 10:00 a.m. in the City Council Chambers at City Hall.  Special meetings of 
this committee shall occur as necessary upon the call of either the Chairman of the Board of 
Commissioners or the Mayor of the City of Statesboro. 

 
-7- 

 
The parties agree that any fees or charges for services such as burning permits, fire code 
prevention, excessive false alarms, hazardous material spills, or other fire related services, shall 
be paid into the Statesboro Fire Services Fund to support the fire department’s budget. 
 

-8- 
 

The County agrees to use all legal remedies available to a County Tax Commissioner to collect 
any and all delinquent tax accounts in the SFT District due to the Statesboro Fire Services Fund. 
 



-9- 
 

The Statesboro Fire Department shall provide the same level of suppression response for all calls 
within the SFT District as it does for identical calls within the City. The Statesboro Fire 
Department shall respond to all calls within the SFT District based on the accepted practice of 
triage for fire incidents. The City shall also be designated by the County as the department 
responsible for the area within the SFT District. 
 

-10- 
 

The City shall investigate the causes of a fire incident within the SFT District in the same 
manner as it does for any identical fire incident within the City. 
 

-11- 
 

The City and the County will work in good faith to cooperatively develop a fire suppression 
response plan using water supply methods that are alternative to municipal water supply systems 
to provide fire suppression in the SFT District. 

 
 

-12- 
 

The City’s Fire Marshal shall be designated by the County as the party responsible for Fire Code 
and Life Safety Code interpretations and enforcement within the SFT District to assure 
uniformity of construction standards for fire prevention purposes. 
 

-13- 
 

The City shall provide to the County on a monthly basis a financial report for all activities and 
transactions for the Statesboro Fire Service Fund in the same manner as it does for the Mayor 
and City Council of Statesboro. 
 

-14- 
 
As payment for services under this Agreement, the County agrees to levy an ad valorem tax on 
all taxable property in the SFT District at a millage rate of 1.8 mills for each fiscal year during 
the term of this Agreement.  The County shall pay the revenue generated from said tax to the 
City in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement, and this shall constitute the sole 
remuneration from the County to the City for fire suppression services in the SFT District for the 
duration of this Agreement. 

 
-15- 

 
The City shall provide the County with a proposed budget for the Statesboro Fire Services Fund 
not later than April 20th of each year, so that the County can review and provide input on it prior 
to City Council adoption.   

 
-16- 



 
The parties hereby agree that all assets currently used by the Statesboro Fire Department shall 
remain the property of the City of Statesboro, and any assets purchased in the future from the 
money in this fund, shall be and remain the sole property of the City of Statesboro. The parties 
further agree that this service contract is for the use of those assets during the term of this 
Agreement only. 
 

-17- 
 

Nothing herein shall alter in any manner any agreements for mutual aid response from the 
Statesboro Fire Department, or any fire department within Bulloch County. 
 

-18- 
 

Written notice required by this Agreement shall be sent to the City Manager on behalf of the 
City, and to the County Manager on behalf of the County. 

 
-19- 

 
(a) If the Parties cannot cooperatively resolve any issue that may arise between the Parties 
concerning this Agreement in a timely manner, the Parties agree to attempt to resolve the 
dispute, claim or controversy arising out of or relating to this Agreement by non-binding 
mediation before a neutral third party agreed upon by the Parties.  If the Parties cannot agree 
upon a neutral third party then each Party shall select a neutral third party and those two neutral 
third parties shall confer and select a third neutral third party to conduct the non-binding 
mediation.  The Parties further agree that their respective good faith participation in mediation is 
a condition precedent to pursuing any other available legal or equitable remedy, including 
litigation, arbitration or other dispute resolution procedures. 
 
(b) Either Party may commence the mediation process by providing to the other Party written 
notice, setting forth the subject of the dispute, claim or controversy and the relief requested.  
Within ten (10) days after the receipt of the foregoing notice, the other Party shall deliver a 
written response to the initiating Party’s notice.  The initial mediation session shall be held 
within thirty (30) days after the initial notice.  The Parties agree to share equally the costs and 
expenses of the mediation (which shall not include the expenses incurred by each Party for its 
own legal representation in connection with the mediation). 
 
(c) The Parties further acknowledge and agree that mediation proceedings are settlement 
negotiations, and that, to the extent allowed by applicable law, all offers, promises, conduct and 
statements, whether oral or written, made in the course of the mediation by any of the Parties or 
their agents shall be confidential and inadmissible in any litigation, arbitration or other legal 
proceeding involving the Parties; provided, however, that evidence which is otherwise 
admissible or discoverable shall not be rendered inadmissible or non-discoverable as a result of 
its use in the mediation. 
 
(d) The provisions of this section may be enforced by any court of competent jurisdiction, 
and the Party seeking enforcement shall be entitled to an award of all costs, fees and expenses, 



including reasonable attorneys’ fees, to be paid by the Party against whom enforcement is 
ordered. 
 

 
 

-20- 
 

Should any part of this Agreement be declared invalid by a court having competent jurisdiction, 
then the other parts shall remain in full force and effect unless amended by mutual agreement of 
the parties. 

 
-21- 

 
This Agreement, as supplemented by the Bulloch County Service Delivery Agreement, 
constitutes the full agreement between the parties in regard to fire suppression services, and this 
Agreement may not be amended except by written approval by both parties. 
 

 
 

-22- 
 

This Agreement shall be construed and interpreted under the laws of the State of Georgia. 
 

-23- 
 

Both parties covenant and agree that this Agreement shall be effective from the date of this 
Agreement through June 30, 2018, and that no provision of this Agreement shall be effective or 
binding on either of the parties after June 30, 2018.     
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have hereunto set their hands and seals. 
 
 
BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS OF  MAYOR AND COUNCIL OF THE CITY 
BULLOCH COUNTY, GEORGIA   OF STATESBORO, GEORGIA 
 
 
 
By: __________________________   By: _______________________________ 
      J. Garrett Nevil, Chairman         Joe R. Brannen, Mayor 
 
 
Attest: ________________________   Attest: _____________________________ 
 Christy Strickland, Clerk    Sue Starling, Clerk 
 
 
 


	09-04-2013 Council Agenda
	08-20-2013 council minutes
	09-2013 Alcohol APPLEBEES
	09-2013 alcohol YOUR PIE
	09- 2013 VEHICLE FOR HIRE J.E.T.
	09-2013  Arts Council SPECIAL EVENT PERMITS
	09-2013 GSU special event
	09-2013-31-Resolution for wrecker towing fees (5)
	09-2013-31 Towing and Storage Exhibit A
	09-2013-32 Resolution for fees and charges march2013corrected
	09-2013 D W YELLOW CAB
	09- 2013-30 A RESOLUTION SETTING THE MILLAGE RATE FOR AD VALOREM
	09-2013 Fleet mechanic CDL
	09-2013 Fleet Mechanic CDL Position Summary Review Form
	09-2013 retro sets-Water Sewer
	09-2013 Whitesville -Lakeview Extension
	09- 2013 Cawana Road Sewer
	09-2013 Fire Service Agreement 8 22 13--Clean Copy

